ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRUCE DEWAYNE HALL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002390

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by admitting numerous statements made by Minor to an emergency room nurse that were documented in a sexual assault examination report into evidence since the statements were hearsay, were not limited to the time and place of the alleged incident, and contained information not necessary for any medical diagnosis or treatment of Minor?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the January 22, 2007 term of General Sessions for second degree criminal sexual conduct (CSC) with a minor, lewd act upon a child, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 268 – R. 273. His case was called to trial on April 22, 2008 before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Brenda Brisbin and Rochelle Oldfield represented the state, and Robert T. Williams, Sr. represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on April 23, 2008, the jury found Appellant guilty of second degree CSC with a minor and lewd act upon a child, but acquitted him of the weapons offense. R. 240, l. 16 – 241, l. 8. Judge Hill sentenced Appellant to twenty years imprisonment for second degree CSC with a minor and ten years consecutive for lewd act. He was also ordered to register as a sex offender. R. 245, ll. 14-22.

On April 28, 2008, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence “on the grounds that, under all the facts and circumstances, a lesser sentence should have been imposed.”¹ R. 265 – R. 266. Judge Hill denied the Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence

¹ Presumably, one of “the facts and circumstances” defense counsel refers to in his Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence is the fact that Appellant is mentally retarded. The solicitor informed the court pretrial that Appellant underwent two court ordered competency evaluations: one at the South Carolina Department of Mental Health (DMH) and a follow up evaluation at the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN). The reports from these evaluations were made a court’s exhibit. See R. 255 – R. 264 (Court’s Exhibit No. 1). The report from DMH indicated Appellant was mildly retarded and that his I.Q., based on an intelligence test from 2004, was 51. DMH therefore referred Appellant to DDSN for an evaluation of his competence to stand trial. DDSN also found Appellant was mildly retarded based on his prior I.Q. scores. However, the DDSN report states, “Mr. Hall [Appellant] was uncooperative with the evaluation to the extent that an opinion about the matter of possible competency to stand [trial] cannot be rendered.” See R. 255 – R. 264 (Court’s Exhibit No. 1). Despite the results from the DMH and DDSN evaluations, defense counsel did not have Appellant

by order dated October 24, 2013 indicating, "This motion was not served on the undersigned judge." R. 267.

This appeal follows.

independently evaluated and he informed the court he would not be contesting Appellant's competency to stand trial. R. 8, l. 14 – 9, l. 3.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by admitting numerous statements made by Minor to an emergency room nurse that were documented in a sexual assault examination report into evidence since the statements were hearsay, were not limited to the time and place of the alleged incident, and contained information not necessary for any medical diagnosis or treatment of Minor.

Relevant Facts

Minor, who was thirteen years old at the time of the trial, was the first witness to testify for the state.² Based on her testimony, it appears Minor and her extended family live in a small grouping of mobile homes that are located on two separate dirt roads. These dirt roads are separated by a wooded area. See R. 17, ll. 1-23; see also R. 29, l. 8 – 32, l. 5. Minor testified that Appellant is her uncle. Specifically, he is her mother's brother. R. 16, ll. 9-12.

Minor explained she was at her cousin's home on August 5, 2006 and that, when it was time for her to go home, her aunt told her she had to walk home with her uncle, Appellant. She claimed while she and Appellant were walking through the wooded area that separated the two dirt roads, Appellant made her pull her pants down to her knees and get on the ground. According to Minor, Appellant then "put his private part in [her] private part" and did not stop until a substance like "water" came out of "his private part" and went "inside of [her]." Minor also alleged that Appellant had a silver knife during the incident and put it close to her neck, but did not actually touch her neck with the knife. R. 19, l. 17 – 22, l. 18. After he stopped, Minor said Appellant continued to walk her home and, when

² The name of Minor is redacted pursuant to the April 15, 2014 order from our Supreme Court entitled, "Revised Order Concerning Personal Identifying Information and Other Sensitive Information in Appellate Court Filings."

they came out of the woods, her mother, her Aunt Theresa, and her Uncle Gary were all there. She told her Aunt Theresa that "Bruce [Appellant] messed with [her]" and Theresa called the police. R. 22, l. 19 – 23, l. 22. After the police arrived, Minor testified she went to the hospital and was examined by a doctor and a nurse. She also said she spoke to a law enforcement officer at the hospital and told her what happened. R. 23, l. 23 – 25, l. 5.

On cross-examination, Minor clarified that she had spent the night at her cousin's house and that it was the next morning when she was walking home that this incident allegedly occurred. She testified that her Aunt Ella told her it was time to go home and asked Appellant, who was out in the yard, to walk Minor home. Minor explained that she was in the woods with Appellant for a "long time." She originally maintained they were in the woods for three to four hours, but ultimately said they were in the woods for eight hours and did not arrive at her house until after dark. R. 37, l. 21 – 39, l. 7. According to Minor, she and Appellant were in the woods for seven hours before Appellant allegedly "raped [her]," which occurred when "[i]t was getting night." She said Appellant was drinking beer and smoking cigarettes the entire time and that she eventually started screaming for Ted, a law enforcement officer that lived nearby, because she wanted to go home. According to Minor, it was at this point that Appellant allegedly took out the knife and assaulted her. He then walked her home. R. 41, l. 18 – 45, l. 2.

Theresa Hendrix, Minor's aunt, testified that she received a telephone call sometime after eight o'clock on the night of August 5, 2006 and that, as result, she went to Minor's mother's home. R. 48, l. 18 – 49, l. 4. After speaking with Minor's mother, Theresa learned Minor was not home and the two went looking for her. R. 49, ll. 10-21. Theresa said they looked for Minor for approximately thirty minutes to an hour until they eventually saw

Minor walking up the dirt road with Appellant. She claimed Minor “had straw all in her hair and her clothes were dirty.” R. 49, l. 23 – 51, l. 9. Because of her appearance, Theresa said she asked Minor if “he [Appellant] mess[ed] with her” to which Minor responded, “Yes.” Theresa then called 9-1-1 and an ambulance came and took Minor to the hospital. R. 51, l. 10 – 52, l. 18.

Betsy Sue Hendrix, Minor’s mother, testified next. She explained that Minor spent the night at her sister’s house and was supposed to come home around noon the next day to be watched by Minor’s step-father because Hendrix had to work. Hendrix testified that when she got home from work around 7:30 that evening, Minor was still not home. Consequently, she went to her sister’s house looking for Minor. R. 56, l. 4 – 57, l. 4. When she discovered Minor was not at her sister’s house, she returned home. She then called her other sister, Theresa, and Theresa came over to help her look for Minor. The two looked in the woods, but could not find Minor. R. 57, l. 5 – 58, l. 9. Eventually, around ten o’clock, Hendrix claimed she and Theresa saw Minor “coming down the road with Bruce Hall [Appellant].” Hendrix testified that when Minor reached them she mostly talked to Theresa and that Theresa ultimately called 9-1-1. R. 58, l. 11 – 59, l. 25.

David Blevins, a juvenile investigator with the Aiken County Sheriff’s Office, testified that he responded to Minor’s residence on August 5, 2006 in reference to an alleged sexual assault. Blevins testified that he began “canvassing” the area between the two roads, which was a “pretty good sized wooded area,” but could not find the location where the alleged assault took place. R. 63, l. 7 – 66, l. 9. Blevins said that all law enforcement found were “a set of foot tracks that were barefooted and a pair of foot tracks that were what

appeared to be tennis shoes exiting this wooded area [near Minor's residence]." R. 66, l. 19 – 67, l. 5. He photographed these tracks. R. 67, l. 8 – 70, l. 23.

Blevins testified that his only other involvement in the case took place after Appellant was arrested. He said he "secured a search warrant for [Appellant's] person where I took him to a certified medical facility and had blood and pubic hairs withdrawn from his body to be analyzed against the evidence we had collected." R. 71, ll. 14-25.

Kim Sievers, also a juvenile investigator with the Aiken County Sheriff's Office, testified that she responded to the emergency room at the Aiken Regional Medical Center on August 5, 2006 to interview Minor in reference to an alleged sexual assault. Sievers said she conducted a forensic interview and utilized the "RATAC protocol." However, she maintained the interview was not videotaped because "[w]e responded in the middle of the night and interviewed her at the ER where we didn't have that capability." R. 94, l. 16 – 95, l. 13. According to Sievers, Minor claimed she had been sexually assaulted and said the alleged assault occurred earlier that evening when she was walking home on a path through the woods that connected her home to another residence. R. 95, l. 21 – 97, l. 3.

On cross-examination, Sievers testified that her notes from her interview with Minor indicate Minor told her Appellant did not produce a knife until after he allegedly assaulted her. R. 107, l. 18 – 108, l. 22.. She also testified that Minor told her Appellant penetrated her three different times and that he masturbated afterwards. R. 108, l. 23 – 110, l. 4.

Sylvia Scott, a nurse in the emergency room at Aiken Regional Hospital, was the next to testify. R. 118, ll. 22-25: She explained that she examined Minor around 12:30 in the morning on August 6, 2006 concerning a complaint that she had been sexually assaulted. R. 119, l. 10 – 120, l. 10. When asked by the solicitor what Minor told her that could be

used for medical diagnosis and treatment, Scott said, “She [Minor] stated that she was told to go down this other path, and that when she went down this other path that he grabbed her and he held her hands down. And she stated he told her to pull her pants down prior to that, and to pull her pants off, and she did, and said that he, her words were, and he stuck his wiener in me.” R. 121, ll. 8-20. Scott also testified that Minor “was very scared because he had told her that if she told anyone that he would kill her or he would slit her throat.” R. 123, ll. 20-22.

After getting this detailed information from Minor, Scott testified that she completed a sexual assault kit. Specifically, she collected a urine sample and swabs from Minor’s mouth and rectum. However, Scott said that the doctor collected a swab from Minor’s vagina and cervical area. R. 123, l. 23 – 125, l. 18.

Walter Jackson, the doctor who examined Minor at the emergency room on August 6, 2006, testified that he observed dirt on “the external part of her genitals” and that inside her vagina it was red and irritated. He also maintained there was a “white, stringy discharge” present. R. 141, l. 8 – 142, l. 14. Furthermore, Jackson explained that he completed the “sexual assault kit,” which included vaginal and rectal swabs. R. 147, ll. 13-25.

During Dr. Jackson’s testimony, the state sought to admit into evidence a written report titled, “Adult Victim Sexual Assault Information and Examination Form,” which documented the doctor’s findings. R. 143, l. 11 – 144, l. 4. This form also contained notes taken by Sylvia Scott, the nurse who examined Minor, about what Minor alleged occurred. R. 148, l. 11 – 159, l. 1; R. 246 – R. 250. The first page of this report contains Minor’s basic information, her medical history, a brief summary of the alleged assault, and other

questions and answers regarding details of the alleged assault, such as whether coercion was used, the identity of the alleged assailant, and whether the assailant was a relative. R. 246 – R. 250.

The notes taken by Sylvia Scott under the “Brief Summary of Assault” section state, “Aug 5, 2006 – late evening – right before dark, in woods far from her house – with uncle who told her to go down another path – into woods – he pulled me down – told me to take my pants off – to pull them down – open my legs – and he stuck his ‘wiener’ in me – I was crying – he forced his wiener in me – I told him to stop.” The report identifies the alleged assailant as “Uncle.” It also indicates Minor claimed “verbal threats” were made and that she “states he would kill her if she told anyone – he would slit my throat.” See R. 246 – R. 250.

Defense counsel objected to this exhibit arguing, “The problem I have is not really with the findings of the doctor, with his physical findings . . . , because I think that certainly is appropriate. The problem I have is with the history that is reported. And obviously any time a doctor sees a patient or sees someone then they take a history. But it appears to be another way in which the testimony from an alleged victim could be changed, it could be put down. It’s not coming from her in regards to what has happened. It’s actually coming from the written page. So my basic objection, Your Honor, is really only to the first page.” R. 144, l. 3 – 145, l. 8.

The solicitor argued in response, “Your Honor, the nurse already testified to what’s on that first page. Under the medical diagnosis and treatment exception to the rules, the hearsay rules. And this is a business record, if you want to call it that. That’s a business record that’s routinely kept in the course of business at the emergency department. And I

believe it is admissible. Actually, I don't think there's anything on that first page that Ms. Scott didn't already testify to." R. 145, ll. 10-18.

Defense counsel later clarified that he was objecting to the first page of the report because it contained hearsay, the contents were "redundant," and "it's certainly not necessary." R. 145, l. 25 – 146, l. 10.

The court ultimately overruled Appellant's objection finding that the contents of the first page of the report "has already been in evidence." He said, "There was a foundation laid at that time for it being information taken in, for purposes of medical diagnosis and treatment."³ R. 146, ll. 11-17.

Lilly Gallman, a SLED agent who was qualified as an expert in DNA analysis, testified that she found semen on the vaginal and rectal swabs collected from Minor during her examination at the hospital. R. 160, l. 9 – 162, l. 3; R. 169, l. 5 – 170, l. 2. Gallman also testified that DNA profile she developed from the vaginal and rectal swabs matched the DNA profile of Appellant. She maintained that "the probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual having a DNA profile matching these items is one in 16 quadrillion." R. 173, l. 22 – 174, l. 12.

The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of second degree CSC with a minor and lewd act upon a child. R. 240, l. 16 – 241, l. 8. During sentencing, the solicitor listed Appellant's prior record, which consisted of only a handful of magistrate convictions, specifically trespassing, driving under the influence, criminal domestic violence, public

³ The court is presumably referring to Sylvia Scott's testimony. Scott was the nurse who obtained Minor's medical history at the emergency room and took notes regarding what Minor alleged took place on August 5, 2006. See R. 118, l. 22 – 137, l. 9. Additionally, the court is likely citing to Rule 803(4), SCRE, which is an exception to the hearsay rule for "Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment."

disorderly conduct, and an open container. R. 243, ll. 5-12. Defense counsel informed the judge that Appellant is mildly retarded and has an IQ of only 51. He also said that Appellant is “very limited intelligence-wise.” R. 243, l. 21 – 244, l. 10. The only thing Appellant said during sentencing was “Can I go to the crazy house?” R. 245, ll.5-12. Despite Appellant’s limited prior record and the fact that he is mildly retarded, the court sentenced him to an aggregate of thirty years imprisonment. R. 245, ll. 14-22.

Discussion

The court erred by admitting numerous statements made by Minor to the emergency room nurse that were documented in a sexual assault examination report into evidence since the statements were hearsay, were not limited to the time and place of the alleged incident, and contained information not necessary for any medical diagnosis or treatment of Minor. Furthermore, Appellant was prejudiced by this error because the contents of this report improperly bolstered Minor’s testimony.

“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. “Hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.” Rule 802, SCRE. Under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, “[a] statement is not hearsay if . . . [t]he declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is . . . consistent with the declarant’s testimony in a criminal sexual conduct case . . . where the declarant is the alleged victim and the statement is limited to the time and place of the incident . . .” See Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 20, 443 S.E.2d 566, 568 (1994) (citing Simpkins v. State, 393 S.C. 364, 367, 401 S.E.2d 142, 143

(1991)) (“[I]n criminal sexual conduct cases, when the victim testifies, evidence from other witnesses that she complained of the sexual assault is admissible in corroboration, limited to the time and place of the assault and excluding details or particulars.”); see also State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 497, 492 S.E.2d 408, 411-412 (Ct. App. 1997).

Minor’s statements contained on the first page of the examination report are hearsay because they are “out of court statement[s]” offered by the state “to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” See Rule 801(c), SCRE. Specifically, the state sought to admit these statements into evidence to corroborate Minor’s allegations and prove Appellant sexually assaulted her. Furthermore, Minor’s statements contained in the report were not limited to the time and place of the incident.⁴ See Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE; see Jolly, 314 S.C. 17, 20, 443 S.E.2d 566, 568; see also Burroughs, 328 S.C. at 497, 492 S.E.2d at 411-412.

Minor’s statements describing the details of the alleged sexual assault that were recorded by Sylvia Scott on the examination form fall outside the scope of the medical diagnosis or treatment exception to the hearsay rule. See Rule 803(4), SCRE. This rule permits the introduction of hearsay for the “purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment.” It states, “The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness . . . (4) Statements made for the purpose of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or

⁴ Appellant acknowledges that Minor’s statements contained in the report that are “limited to the time and place of the incident” are not considered to be hearsay under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE. This would *only* include the portion of the report that states, “Aug 5, 2006 – late evening – right before dark, in woods far from her house.” See R. 246 – R. 250.

sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment . . .” See Rule 803(4), SCRE.

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