ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Aiken County  
Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-002390

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BRUCE DEWAYNE HALL,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.  
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 3368  
Aiken, SC 29802  
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JAN 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Aiken County

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

Likewise, regarding the second requirement for admissibility pursuant to the medical diagnosis or treatment exception, Victim's statements were the type of statements reasonably relied upon medical personnel in providing treatment. Critically, Victim's statements about the time and location of the sexual assault were relevant to her treatment because they enabled the medical personnel to assess and determine when and how Victim's injuries were sustained.<sup>9</sup> See Webster v. State, 151 Md. App. 527, 546, 827 A.2d 910, 920-921 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2003) (“[W]hat happened to a sexual assault victim may be critically important in deciding where to examine her, what range of medical problems to look for, and, ultimately, how to treat her.”). Additionally, Victim's statements to Scott detailing the physical force used during the sexual assault, including in regard to how she was pulled to the ground and how her assailant forced his penis inside of her, were highly relevant for purposes of Victim's diagnosis and treatment. See State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 501, 492 S.E.2d 408, 414 (Ct. App. 1997) (“Certainly, a statement that the victim had been raped or that the assailant had hurt the victim in a particular area would be pertinent to the diagnosis or treatment of the victim.”). Furthermore, Victim's statements about how the sexual assault led her to tears and about how her assailant threatened to kill her were relevant in regard to the treatment Victim needed for any emotional trauma she may have been experiencing as a result of the incident. See United States v. Peneaux, 432 F.3d 882, 894 (8th Cir. 2005) (“Due to the

---

<sup>9</sup> Moreover, those statements did not constitute hearsay. See Rule 801(d)(1), SCRE (instructing a sexual assault victim's out-of-court statements regarding the time and place of a sexual assault do not constitute hearsay when the victim testifies during trial).

nature of child sexual abuse, a doctor must be able to identify and treat not only physical injury, but also the emotional or psychological problems that typically accompany sexual abuse by a family member.”); Willingham, 412 F.3d at 562 (finding an out-of-court statement in regard to the source of emotional trauma was admissible as a statement made for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment because it was relevant to the declarant’s diagnosis and treatment for the emotional trauma). Finally, although the identity of a victim’s assailant is typically not relevant to the medical treatment or diagnosis of that victim, Victim’s statements indicating her assailant was her uncle without specifying which uncle were highly relevant towards her diagnosis and treatment because they enabled the medical personnel to explore and address any psychological problems Victim may have been experiencing and to protect Victim’s medical well-being by ensuring as part of her treatment she had no further contact with the relative who had sexually abused her.<sup>10</sup> See State v. Aguallo, 318 N.C. 590, 597, 350 S.E.2d 76, 80 (N.C. 1986) (“First, a proper diagnosis of a child psychological problems resulting from sexual abuse or rape will often depend on the identity of the abuser. Second, information that a child sexual abuser is a member of the patient’s household is **reasonably pertinent** to a course of treatment that includes removing the child from the home.” (emphasis added));

---

<sup>10</sup> Notably, the nurse and doctor who treated Victim had an affirmative obligation to report Victim had been sexually assaulted pursuant to South Carolina’s statutory reporting requirements regarding suspected cases of abuse or neglect, which further enhanced the importance of the information they obtained from Victim in regard to the sexual assault. See S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-310 (“A physician, nurse, . . . or any other medical, emergency services, mental health, or allied health professional . . . must report . . . when in the person’s professional capacity the person has received information which gives the person reason to believe that a child has been or may be abused or neglected as defined in Section 63-7-20.”); see also Peneaux, 432 F.3d at 894 (finding the identity of a juvenile sexual abuse victim’s abuser was reasonably pertinent to the victim’s treatment where the victim’s doctor testified she was required to report the abuse pursuant to a South Dakota reporting law). In fact, a knowing failure to report a suspected case of abuse or neglect when required constitutes a criminal offense in South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. § 63-7-410 (“A person required to report a case of child abuse or neglect or a person required to perform any other function under this article who knowingly fails to do so . . . is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than five hundred dollars or imprisoned not more than six months, or both.”).

see also State v. Brown, 286 S.C. 445, 447, 334 S.E.2d 816, 817 (1985) (“The perpetrator’s identity would **rarely**, if ever, be a factor upon which the doctor relied in diagnosing or treating the victim.” (emphasis added)). Under those circumstances, the statements contained in the report were “reasonably pertinent” to Victim’s diagnosis and treatment and, thus, were admissible during Appellant’s trial. Rule 803(4), SCRE.

Due to the fact the report containing Victim’s statements about the sexual assault satisfied all of the requirements for admission pursuant to the medical diagnosis or treatment exception to the hearsay rule, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting the report into evidence pursuant to that hearsay exception. See State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”); cf. Todd v. Joyner, 385 S.C. 421, 426, 685 S.E.2d 595, 597-598 (2009) (“We find that the records introduced through Dr. Friedman’s testimony referring to complaints or statements Todd made to her physicians are not barred by the hearsay rule. . . . The medical history referenced by Dr. Friedman falls within the ambit of Rule 803(4) and therefore, does not run afoul of the hearsay rule.”). Accordingly, Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

#### **B. Harmlessness of Any Error in the Admission of the Report**

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). After an error is found, the appellate court must then review the other evidence considered at trial besides the erroneously admitted evidence. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006); see State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 217, 641 S.E.2d 873, 878 (2007) (“Determining the trial judge committed error is the first step of our

analysis. Next we must determine whether the error was harmless.”). An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 25, 664 S.E.2d 480, 484 (2008). The harmlessness of an error in the admission of evidence generally depends on the materiality of the evidence in relation to the case as a whole. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003); see State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). “When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.” Bailey, 298 S.C. at 5, 377 S.E.2d at 584; see United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”).

In the case at bar, even if the trial judge somehow erred in admitting the report containing Victim’s statements, any error was entirely harmless in light of the fact the statements in the report were wholly cumulative to other, unobjected-to testimony presented during Appellant’s trial. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) (“Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Critically, during trial, Victim testified about the sexual assault in a manner entirely consistent with the information contained in the report. See State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 293, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) (“[T]he admission of improper evidence is deemed harmless if it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); see also State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 82,

591 S.E.2d 632, 636 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Moreover, Detective Lindsey’s publication of the prior statement was cumulative to Ms. Blalock’s previous, unchallenged publication of the relevant portions of her statement.”). Moreover, in addition to Victim’s testimony, Investigator Sievers and Scott testified about the details Victim reported to them about the sexual assault, and those details covered all of the information contained in the written report. See State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (finding any error in the admission of hearsay testimony from one witness to be harmless where two other witnesses testified to the same information without objection); Blackburn, 271 S.C. at 329, 247 S.E.2d at 337 (finding any error in the improper admission of the victim’s hearsay statements implicating Blackburn was harmless because the statements were cumulative to other evidence received in the case); see also State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (finding an error resulting from the admission of improper hearsay evidence was harmless because the inadmissible evidence was merely cumulative to other evidence introduced during trial without objection). Because the report was merely cumulative to the other evidence introduced during trial, its admission could have resulted in no prejudice to Appellant, rendering any error in its admission entirely harmless.<sup>11</sup> See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306

---

<sup>11</sup> On appeal, Appellant appears to maintain the admission of the report containing Victim’s statements was not harmless despite the fact it was admittedly cumulative to Victim’s trial testimony while citing to Jolly v. State, 314 S.C. 17, 443 S.E.2d 566 (1994), for the proposition improper corroboration testimony that is merely cumulative to a victim’s testimony cannot be harmless. (App. Br. p. 16). Notwithstanding the fact the report was not cumulative simply to Victim’s testimony in Appellant’s case, Appellant’s reliance on Jolly is misplaced in light of the Supreme Court’s decision in State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011). Significantly, in the Jennings case, a majority of the Supreme Court abandoned the precise rule from Jolly Appellant now seeks to rely upon in his case to establish the alleged error in the admission of the report was not harmless. See Jennings, 394 S.C. at 482, 716 S.E.2d at 95 (Kittredge, J., concurring) (“I concur in result, but agree with Chief Justice Toal that the apparent categorical rule emanating from Jolly v. State and its progeny precluding a finding of harmless error goes too far. In my judgment, it may be a rare occurrence for the State to prove harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt in these circumstances. But these determinations are necessarily context dependent, and a categorical rule is at odds with longstanding harmless error jurisprudence.” (citations omitted)); see also Jennings, 394 S.C. at 483, 716 S.E.2d at 95 (Toal, C.J., dissenting) (“I believe we should take this opportunity to overrule Jolly. In my opinion, these

S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) (“It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”); see also State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006) (“The improper admission of hearsay is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice.”).

However, even if the cumulative nature of the report to other properly-admitted evidence was not sufficient to render any error in the admission of the report entirely harmless, the report’s admission nonetheless could have had no impact on the verdict in Appellant’s case in light of the absolutely overwhelming evidence of Appellant’s guilt presented during trial. Most significantly, testimony was presented conclusively establishing Appellant’s semen was discovered in Victim’s vagina, which simply could not have occurred in a lawful manner and alone overwhelmingly established Appellant’s guilt for the criminal sexual conduct and lewd act charges. See State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant’s guilt). Additionally, Victim testified during trial about the sexual assault and identified Appellant as her assailant. Furthermore, Mother and Aunt testified about Victim’s lengthy disappearance before they found her in Appellant’s company, Aunt stated Victim quickly told her Appellant had sexually assaulted her after they found her with Appellant, and numerous witnesses testified about Victim’s dirty and disheveled condition after she was found, which all corroborated Victim’s account of the sexual assault. See State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) (“Given the abundant evidence of Tench’s guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond

---

cases create a rule of per se prejudice when testimony is cumulative to the victim's testimony. Such a rule is contrary to the traditional analysis of improperly admitted hearsay testimony, which requires a finding of prejudice.”). Therefore, Appellant’s appellate contentions in regard to the claimed harmfulness of the alleged error in his case are erroneous.

a reasonable doubt.”). Similarly, testimony was presented establishing Appellant quickly fled back into the woods when Victim began speaking with Aunt after the sexual assault, and an officer recounted Appellant’s desperate and bizarre attempt to evade arrest on his hands and knees several days after the incident. See State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 209, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006) (“Flight or evasion of arrest is a circumstance to go to the jury.”); State v. Walker, 366 S.C. 643, 656, 623 S.E.2d 122, 128 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[I]t can be inferred from his sudden disappearance that Walker was either expecting the police to arrest him or he was planning his escape.”). Collectively, that undisputed evidence overwhelmingly established Appellant’s guilt and rendered any conceivable error in the admission of the report containing Victim’s statements about the sexual assault wholly insignificant and immaterial. See Mitchell, 286 S.C. at 573, 336 S.E.2d at 151 (finding the admission of improper hearsay evidence to be harmless where “there was abundant evidence in the record from which the jury could have found appellant guilty, notwithstanding the hearsay testimony”); see also State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 97, 180 S.E.2d 888, 891 (1971) (“The jury had before it positive identifications of each of the defendants. Such identifications were not denied. It is academic that failure of the defendants to testify created no inference of guilt against them. They did not have the burden of proving anything. However, undisputed testimony is more conclusive than testimony which is in dispute, and it is less difficult for this court to reason that guilt is conclusively proven when there is no denial, than when an accused person disputes the truthfulness of the State’s evidence.”). Under those circumstances, any possible error resulting from the admission of the report was entirely harmless and could have had no impact on the ultimate outcome of Appellant’s case. See State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 518, 633 S.E.2d 152, 156 (2006) (“[A]ppellate courts will not set aside convictions due to

insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); Pagan, 369 S.C. at 212, 631 S.E.2d at 267 (“Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.